IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA CASE NO. SC10-450 Lower Tribunal No.: 05-1992-CF-17795

JOHNNY HOSKINS aka JAMILE ALLE,

Appellant,

v.

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

/

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE EIGHTEENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT IN AND FOR BREVARD COUNTY, FLORIDA

INITIAL BRIEF OF THE APPELLANT

Carol Contreras Rodriguez Florida Bar Number 0931720 Assistant CCRC

Raheela Ahmed Florida Bar Number 0713457 Assistant CCRC

Office of the Capital Collateral Regional Counsel-Middle Region 3801 Corporex Park Dr. - Suite 210 Tampa, Florida 33619-1136 (813) 740-3544 Counsels for the Appellant

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

This is the appeal of the circuit court's denial of Johnny Hoskins a/k/a Jamil Alle's motion for postconviction relief which was brought pursuant to *Fla.R.Crim.P.* 3.851. Citations shall be as follows: The record on appeal concerning the trial proceedings shall be referred to as "R. ____" followed by the appropriate page numbers from the original record. The postconviction record on appeal will be referred to as "PC-ROA _____" followed by the appropriate volume and page numbers. All other references will be self-explanatory or otherwise explained.

REQUEST FOR ORAL ARGUMENT

The resolution of the issues in this appeal will determine whether Mr. Hoskins lives or dies. This Court has allowed oral argument in other capital cases in a similar procedural posture. A full opportunity to air the issues through oral argument would be appropriate given the seriousness of the claims involved and the fact that a life is at stake. Mr. Hoskins accordingly requests that this Court permit oral argument.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

The Circuit Court of the Eighteenth Judicial Circuit, in and for Brevard County, Florida, entered the judgment of convictions and sentences which formed the basis for this post-conviction proceeding. On November 10, 1992, the Brevard County, Florida, a Grand Jury indicted the Defendant, Johnny Hoskins (hereinafter referred to as "Hoskins"), for the First-degree Murder, Burglary, Sexual Battery, Kidnapping, and Robbery of Dorothy Berger. (R. - p.2061). Trial by jury resulted in guilty verdicts on all counts on March 21, 1994. The Jury found the Defendant guilty of Count I, First Degree Murder, Count II, Burglary with a Battery, Count III, Sexual battery with Great Force, Count IV, Kidnapping, and Count V, Robbery.

The case proceeded to a penalty phase, held from March 28 to 29, 1994,

wherein the defense objected to the standard jury instruction and requested a special instruction on the cold, calculated, and premeditated aggravator. (R. - pp. 2443-2445). Following the penalty phase hearing but before the court imposed the sentence, the trial court reconsidered Hoskins objection and granted a new penalty phase before a new jury on August 26, 1994. The Court found that it should have given the expanded jury instruction for the cold, calculated, and premeditated aggravator instead of the standard jury instruction. (R. - p. 2485).

Prior to the start of the second penalty phase proceeding and at the suggestion of Hoskins' mental health expert, the defense requested neurological testing, at the Public Defender's expense for Hoskins to undergo a Pet Scan in order to determine the extent of brain damage to his frontal lobe for presentation as mitigation evidence. (R. - pp.2501-2504 & pp.2505-2507). The trial court denied Hoskins's request. (R. - p.2514). The second penalty phase was conducted from October 3 to October 6, 1994, and the jury in its advisory verdict, recommended death by a vote of twelve to zero for Count I. (R.- p.2553). The trial court sentenced Hoskins to death for Count I, to a term of natural life in the custody of the Department of Corrections for Counts II, III, and IV, and to 15 years in the custody of the Department of Corrections for Count V. The sentences under Counts II, III, IV, and V were to run consecutive to the sentence under Count I and

concurrent to each other. (R. - pp. 2588-2592).

The following factual history is taken from this Court's opinion in Hoskins

v. State, 702 So.2d 202, 203-204 (Fla. 1997) on direct appeal:

Police went to eighty-year-old Dorothy Berger's home on Sunday, October 18, 1992, after neighbors discovered her door was open but no one was home. The television and air-conditioning were on; a small amount of blood, a bent pair of eyeglasses, and a green hand towel were on the bed; several items in the room appeared to be out of place; a shoe impression was visible in the dust on the floor; and Berger's car was gone. There was no sign of forced entry. The victim had last been heard from around 6:30 p.m. on Saturday, October 17.

Hoskins lived with his girlfriend in the house next door to the victim's house. On the evening of October 17, a witness saw him driving a car similar to the victim's. At about 5 a.m. on October 18, Hoskins arrived at this parent's house in Georgia driving that same car. After he got to his parents' house, he borrowed a shovel and left. He returned about twenty minutes later. On Monday, October 19, he was stopped in Georgia for a traffic violation. Police subsequently determined that the car Hoskins was driving belonged to the victim. Police found vegetation and blood in the trunk of the car. Thereafter, Hoskins' father led police to an area near his home where the type of vegetation found in the trunk grew. The victim was discovered there in a grave with her hands tied behind her back and a gag in her mouth.

Further examination revealed that the victim had been raped; had numerous injuries to her body; had several blows to her head, one of which likely caused her to become unconscious; and had died of strangulation, which occurred after the sexual battery and beating.

Hoskins, 702 So.2d at 203-204.

The trial court found two aggravating circumstances: (1) the murder was

committed during the course of a sexual battery or kidnapping; and (2)the murder was especially heinous, atrocious, or cruel. *See Hoskins*, 702 So.2d at 204. The trial court also found the following non-statutory mitigators:

(1) Hoskins had a loving relationship with his family; (2) he was a father figure to his siblings; (3) he had protected his siblings from his father's violence and received beatings; (4) he has low mental abilities; (5) he has a mild brain abnormality; (6) he came from an impoverished and abusive background; (7) he was influenced by racial problems during his school years; (8) he helped support his family; and (9) other miscellaneous aspects of Hoskins' life (tended to his pets, adept at woodworking and making clocks, and not a behavioral problem at school).

Id. at 204.

On direct appeal the conviction and sentences were affirmed, except for the death sentence. *See Hoskins*, 702 So.2d at 202 & 210-211. As to the death sentence the Florida Supreme Court remanded the case for a Positron Emission Tomography (hereinafter referred to as "PET Scan") and a subsequent evidentiary hearing. *See id.* at 210-211. Following the PET Scan and evidentiary hearing, the trial court found that the PET Scan had shown a brain abnormality, and the court ruled that Dr. Krop's testimony had changed. *See Hoskins v. State*, 735 So.2d 1281 (Fla. 1999). As a result of these findings, the Florida Supreme Court then vacated the death sentence and remanded the case for a new sentencing proceeding. *See id.* at 1281. The State objected to the admissibility of the PET Scan evidence and the

trial court conducted a *Frye* hearing pursuant to *Frye v. United States*, 293 F. 1013,1014 (D.C. Cir. 1923). At the conclusion of the hearing, the court overruled the State's objection to the admissibility of the PET Scan evidence.

A Third Penalty Phase was conducted from July 19 to 24, 2004. At the conclusion of the third penalty phase proceeding the jury's advisory verdict recommended death by a vote of eleven to one under Count I. (R. - p.1702-1703). The jury and the trial court found the following three aggravating circumstances: (1) the capital felony was committed during the course of or in flight after committing the crimes of robbery, sexual battery, or kidnapping; (2) the capital felony was committed for the purpose of avoiding or preventing a lawful arrest; and (3) the capital felony was especially heinous, atrocious, or cruel. *See Hoskins v. State*, 965 So.2d 1, 6 (Fla. 2007). The trial court found the following mitigating circumstances:

(1) Hoskins formed and maintained loving relationships with his family (little weight); (2) the Defendant was a father figure to his siblings (little weight); (3) the Defendant protected his mother from his father's abuse (little weight); (4) low IQ (little weight); (5) low mental functioning ability (little weight); (6) some abnormalities in the brain which may cause some impairment (little weight) (7) an impoverished and abusive background (some weight); (8) mental age equivalent (between fifteen and twenty-five) (little weight); (9) the Defendant helped support his family financially (little weight); (11) no disciplinary problems in school (little weight); (12) the Defendant suffered from poor academic performance and left school at age sixteen to work to help is family (little weight); (13) the Defendant

was not malingering (little weight); (14) the Defendant expressed remorse (little weight); (15) potential for rehabilitation and lack of future dangerousness (little weight); and (16) good jail conduct including death row behavior (little weight).

Hoskins, 965 So.2d at 6.

The court concluded "that any one of the aggravating circumstances standing alone far outweighed all of the mitigating circumstances and resentenced Hoskins to death" for Count I as to the first-degree murder charge and a consecutive term of life imprisonment for Burglary, Sexual Battery, Kidnapping, and fifteen years consecutive sentence on the Robbery charge. *Hoskins*, 965 So.2d at 6-7. On April 19, 2007, this Court affirmed the death sentence. *See Hoskins*, 965 So.2d at 1 & 22. A timely motion for rehearing was denied on August 8, 2007.

The Defendant filed a timely petition for writ of certiorari to the United States Supreme Court that was denied on January 14, 2008. *See Hoskins v. Florida*, 552 U.S. 1152, 128 S.Ct. 1112 (2008). On January 9, 2002, a timely motion for postconviction relief pursuant to *Fla.R.Crim.P.* 3.851 was filed. (PC-ROA Vol- IV - pp.544-630). An Answer to the Motion was filed by the State on February 24, 2009. All claims for relief raised in this motion were asserted as claims for relief under both the federal and state constitutions. A Case Management Conference was conducted by the court on March 13, 2009, and the Court granted the Defendant an evidentiary hearing. The evidentiary hearing was held from August 24 to August 25, 2009. The lower court denied Hoskins' 3851 motion on January 14, 2010 and the motion for rehearing on February 10, 2010. (PC-ROA. V-VI - pp.900-945, V-VII - pp.1189-1245, V-VIII - pp.1246-1445, & V-IX - pp.1446-1479). This timely appeal follows.

The facts elicited at the evidentiary hearing are summarized as follows:

RANDALL MOORE, Trial Counsel for Penalty Phase 1 and 2.

During the evidentiary hearing trial counsels Randall Moore and Ernest Chang both testified. Trial counsel Moore testified that he had been employed with the Public Defender's Office for the Eighteenth Judicial Circuit since April, 1983. Trial counsel Moore stated that he is currently the Chief Assistant Public Defender and testified that he has tried a dozen death penalty cases and five non death penalty capital cases in the course of his career. Trial counsel Moore testified that the Hoskins case was early in his career and his second death penalty case. He served as lead counsel for Hoskins with Ken Rhoden, Esquire, who was assigned as co-counsel. Trial counsel Moore recalled that he handled the penalty phase and that he and Mr. Rhoden split the responsibilities as to the guilt phase portion of the case. Trial counsel Moore testified that there was no specific investigator assigned to the case exclusively and that investigative work was assigned to various investigators. (PC-ROA. V-III - p.354).

In addition to Hoskins case, trial counsel Moore testified that he had a full felony docket, one other death penalty case which he tried shortly after being appointed to represent Hoskins and a couple of other non-capital first-degree murder cases. He estimated that he was handling between 200 to 250 cases in total at the time of his appointment to Hoskins' case. (PC-ROA. V-III - p.354). Trial counsel Moore testified that he was familiar with the ABA guidelines and recommendations and took death penalty training prior to handling Hoskins case. (PC-ROA. V-III - p.356). Counsel Moore testified that he had not conducted any independent testing of hair and blood samples taken from Hoskins in Georgia following his arrest. (PC-ROA. V-III - p.359). Counsel testified that the blood draw would have been taken about three or four days following the crime and as such of limited value. (PC-ROA. V-III - p.359). He testified that no motion for any toxicology or blood testing was filed. (PC-ROA. V-III - p.354). Counsel testified that substance abuse was not seriously considered in this case because he had no proof of it and Hoskins denied involvement in the crime. (PC-ROA. V-III - p.360). Counsel testified that it is beneficial to present evidence of intoxication with the approval of the client. (PC-ROA. V-III - p.360). Counsel acknowledged that Theresa Kovatch had been identified as a witness. (PC -ROA. V-III - p.362). Counsel testified that Ms. Kovach had witnessed Hoskins attack another individual in a frenzied manner and considered this relevant mental health testimony for use at penalty phase. (PC-ROA. V-III - p.362). Following the remand in 1999, trial counsel testified that he spoke with Dr. Krop several times and asked him to meet with Hoskins and administer additional tests. (PC-ROA. V-III - p.362). He could not recall doing anything further after the test results were received. (PC-ROA. V-III - p.363). He could not recall specific discussion with trial counsel Chang (Hoskins' subsequent counsel) concerning Dr. Krop's evaluation or testing information. (PC-ROA. V-III - p.363).

Trial counsel Moore testified that Hoskins had indicated to him that around the time of the homicide he (Hoskins) had a cocaine addiction problem. (PC-ROA. V-III - p.373). Counsel testified that he believed that Hoskins' girlfriend also indicated that Hoskins was abusing drugs. (PC-ROA. V-III - p. 373). Counsel could not recall discussion of cocaine intoxication or addiction with expert, Dr. Krop. (PC-ROA. V-III - p.376). At the State's request, Counsel reviewed but could not recall State Exhibit A, a letter written to him by Dr. Krop and dated October 21, 1993. (PC-ROA. V-III - p.354). Counsel testified that the letter from Dr. Krop advised that Hoskins presented with no evidence of any major mental illness or drug or alcohol abuse. (PC-ROA. V-III - p.372) On cross-examination Counsel testified that an attachment to the letter sent by Dr. Krop dated September 23, 1994, referenced drug and alcohol activity by Hoskins. (PC-ROA. V-III - p.380). Counsel testified that he did not recognize the handwriting on the attachment. (PC-ROA. V-III - p.380). The attachment appeared to be a memorialization of an interview by Dr. Krop with Hoskins and referenced abuse of both cocaine and alcohol by Hoskins. (PC-ROA. V-III - p.380). Trial counsel Moore testified that he may have re-evaluated and re-assessed a decision to use Dr. Krop in a third penalty phase based upon new evidence or information that may have been obtained. (PC-ROA. V-III - p.377).

ERNEST CHANG, Trial Counsel for Penalty Phase 3

Trial counsel Chang testified that he had been a trial counsel for approximately twenty years. His first three years as a lawyer were spent with the Brevard Public Defenders Office he then continued doing criminal defense work for two years with a private law firm and has been in his own practice doing criminal defense work since 1995. (PC-ROA. V-III - p.377). Hoskins' death penalty proceeding was the second such case handled by trial counsel Chang. (PC-ROA. V-III - p.385).

Trial counsel Chang was unable to recall how many times he met with prior counsel, trial counsel Moore to discuss Hoskins' case. (PC-ROA. V-III - p.385). Trial counsel Chang testified that he did not retain an investigator or mitigation expert to assist him in the case. (PC-ROA. V-III - p.385& p.386). He testified that he has used investigators to search for mitigating evidence in other cases, but he did not hire one in the Johnny Hoskins case. The reason that he gave for not retaining a mitigation expert or investigator to assist was because the work had already been done twice. (PC-ROA. V-III - p.386). Trial counsel Chang testified that his philosophy was to do everything that trial counsel Moore (prior counsel) had done in the previous two penalty phase proceedings, plus anything else that he could think of. (PC-ROA. V-III - p.386). Counsel testified that he did not locate any new witnesses. (PC-ROA. V-III - p.388).

Trial counsel Chang filed a notice of appearance in Hoskins case on December 23, 2003. The penalty phase proceeding was conducted in July, 2004. In cross examination, trial counsel Chang testified that he had spoken to Dr. Krop via telephone on a number of occasions, and had spoken with Dr. Krop after he had administered additional tests and met with Hoskins in 2003. (PC-ROA. V-III p.413). He testified that during these telephone conversations with Dr. Krop he discussed generally what Dr. Krop's testimony was going to be at hearing. (PC-ROA. V-III - p.387). Trial counsel Chang testified that he first met face to face with Dr. Krop either the night before or on the morning of the penalty phase proceeding. (PC-ROA. V-III - p.387).

Trial counsel Chang testified that he put on all of the same witnesses that had testified in the previous penalty phase proceedings. (PC-ROA. V-III - p.388). Trial counsel Chang testified that he reviewed Hoskins' PSI and that he was aware that drug and alcohol abuse are mitigating factors. (PC-ROA. V-III - p.388). Counsel testified that he met with various members of Hoskins' family. (PC-ROA. V-III - p.387). He stated that he did not make any independent effort to investigate drug or alcohol abuse in Hoskins' case. (PC-ROA. V-III - p. 388). Counsel acknowledged that he might have come across some information that Hoskins had snorted cocaine. (PC-ROA. V-III - p.389). Counsel testified that such information would be relevant to pass along to a mental health expert and a single indication in and of itself might not be something to have been further explored. (PC-ROA. V-III - p.389). Counsel could not recall discussing substance abuse with Dr. Krop or with Hoskins. (PC-ROA. V-III - p.389 & p.399). Counsel testified that he had no reason to believe that drug or alcohol abuse was a factor that he could raise in mitigation. (PC-ROA. V-III - p.401). Counsel testified that a witness named Theresa Kovatch was a familiar sounding name but did not have an independent recollection. (PC-ROA. V-III - p.389). Counsel testified that he discussed the issue of impulse control with Dr. Krop as to Hoskins (PC-ROA. V-III - p. 389). He acknowledged having had records from the Department of Corrections as to

Hoskins history. (PC-ROA. V-III - p.390).

Trial counsel Chang testified that he reviewed all material in the case prior to his involvement. (PC-ROA. V-III - p.399). Counsel testified that he is generally familiar with the ABA guidelines with regards to requirements for representing clients in post conviction but would not state that he uses them like the bible. (PC-ROA. V-III - p.390). Counsel testified that he believed that Dr. Krop had informed him that he had been asked by trial counsel Moore to administer additional tests to Hoskins. (PC-ROA. V-III - p.409). Counsel testified that he knew the names of the tests but had not been provided any reports, and nothing with dates on it. (PC-ROA. V-III - p.409). Trial counsel Chang testified that on the date he arrived for Hoskins' penalty phase proceeding, he had not reviewed the tests and he expected that Dr. Krop would orally report his findings and conclusions. (PC-ROA. V-III p.410).

Trial counsel Chang testified that Dr. Krop's statements as to the defendant's admissions made in 2003, were simply admissions of guilt and not an issue at penalty phase as guilt had already been established. (PC-ROA. V-III - p.416). Trial counsel testified that if he had known about the admissions prior to calling Dr. Krop he would still have called him as he had done the entire work up and the only alternative was to go out and find another expert to do everything that

Dr. Krop had already done. (PC-ROA. V-III - p.417).

DR. ALEXANDER MORTON.

Dr. Alexander Morton Jr., Professor of Pharmacy Practice at Medical University of South Carolina, was called as an expert in the field of Neuropharmacology to testify at Hoskins' evidentiary hearing. Dr. Morton stated that he was retained to look at Hoskins' substance use. (PC-ROA. V-II - p.142). Dr. Morton was accepted as an expert in the field of psycho pharmacology. (PC-ROA. V-II - p.146).

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