IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. SC10-450

JOHNNY HOSKINS

Appellant,

v.

STATE OF FLORIDA

Appellee.

ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE

ON APPEAL FROM THE EIGHTEENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT IN AND FOR BREVARD COUNTY, FLORIDA

> PAMELA JO BONDI ATTORNEY GENERAL

COUNSEL FOR APPELLEE KENNETH S. NUNNELLEY Fla. Bar No. 998818 SENIOR ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL 444 SEABREEZE BLVD., SUITE 500 DAYTONA BEACH, FLORIDA 32114 (386)238-4990 FAX-(386)226-0457

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

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The post-conviction relief court properly denied relief on the claim of ineffectiveness of counsel for not presenting evidence of "intermittent explosive disorder." Hoskins' actions

were, at all times, goal directed and consistent with the actions of an individual who has committed a crime and does not want to be caught.

The remaining ineffectiveness of counsel claims were also correctly resolved by the trial court. There was no evidence to suggest that Hoskins was intoxicated at the time of the crime, and, consequently, no basis for counsel to have expected a defense of intoxication to be at issue in this case. Further, drug and alcohol use mitigation was presented at least to some degree, and, in its mitigating value, is essentially identical to the "brain damage" mitigation that was presented. As the post-conviction court found, the evidence was that Hoskins made a conscious effort to avoid arrest, and any "intoxication" did not impact his actions in any fashion.

The post-conviction relief court properly denied relief on the "cumulative error" claim because there is no error to "cumulate" in the first place.

ARGUMENT

I. THE (FIRST) PENALTY PHASE INEFFECTIVENESS CLAIM

On pages 54-61 of his brief, Hoskins says that the postconviction trial court should have found that trial counsel was ineffective for not presenting evidence that Hoskins suffers from "intermittent explosive disorder." This claim was addressed by the lower court beginning at V7, R1205, where that court

properly denied relief.¹³ The standard of review applied by an appellate court when reviewing a trial court's ruling on a postconviction relief motion which was denied after an evidentiary hearing is: "As long as the trial court's findings are supported by competent substantial evidence, 'this Court will not "substitute its judgment for that of the trial court on questions of fact, likewise of the credibility of the witnesses as well as the weight to be given to the evidence by the trial court."'" Blanco v. State, 702 So. 2d 1250, 1252 (Fla. 1997), quoting Demps v. State, 462 So. 2d 1074, 1075 (Fla. 1984), quoting Goldfarb v. Robertson, 82 So. 2d 504, 506 (Fla. 1955); Melendez v. State, 718 So. 2d 746 (Fla. 1998). The circuit court properly denied relief, and that result should not be disturbed for the reasons set out below.

THE LEGAL STANDARD

Hoskins' ineffective assistance of counsel claims are governed by the well-settled *Strickland v. Washington*, 466 U.S. 228 (1984), standard. The Florida Supreme Court has described that standard in the following way:

In Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668, 104 S. Ct. 2052, 80 L. Ed. 2d 674 (1984), the Court established a two-pronged standard for determining whether counsel provided legally ineffective assistance. A defendant must point to specific acts or omissions of counsel that are "so serious that counsel was not functioning as the 'counsel' guaranteed the

¹³ Hoskins' brief contains no reference to the order.

defendant by the Sixth Amendment." Id. at 687. The defendant also must establish prejudice by "show[ing] that there is a reasonable probability that, but for counsel's unprofessional errors, the result of the proceeding would have been different." Id. at 694. A reasonable probability is a "probability sufficient to undermine confidence in the outcome." Id.; see Gaskin 2d 509, 516 n.14 (Fla. State, 737 So. 1999) v. ("Prejudice, in the context of penalty phase errors, shown where, absent the errors, there is is а reasonable probability that the balance of aggravating and mitigating circumstances would have been different or the deficiencies substantially impair confidence in the outcome of the proceedings.").

Reese v. State, 14 So. 3d 913, 917 (Fla. 2009). Or, stated

somewhat differently:

The yardstick by which we measure ineffective assistance of counsel claims is the seminal decision of the United States Supreme Court in Strickland. First, the defendant must establish that counsel's performance was deficient. Second, the defendant must establish that counsel's deficient performance prejudiced the defendant. To establish the deficiency prong under Strickland, the defendant must prove that counsel's performance was unreasonable under "prevailing professional norms." Garcia v. State, 949 980, 987 (Fla. 2006). To establish the So. 2d prejudice prong under Strickland, the defendant must prove that "there is a reasonable probability that, but for counsel's unprofessional errors, the result of the proceeding would have been different. A reasonable probability is a probability sufficient to undermine confidence in the outcome." White v. State, 964 So. 2d 1278, 1285 (Fla. 2007) (quoting Strickland, 466 U.S. at 694).

Duest v. State, 12 So. 3d 734, 742 (Fla. 2009). In the context of a case similar to this one, where the claim concerned an "uncalled" mental state expert, this Court said:

Following the United States Supreme Court's decision in *Strickland v. Washington*, 466 U.S. 668,

104 S. Ct. 2052, 80 L. Ed. 2d 674 (1984), this Court has held that for ineffective assistance of counsel claims to be successful, two requirements must be satisfied: First, the claimant must identify particular acts or omissions of the lawyer that are shown to be outside the broad range of reasonably competent performance under prevailing professional standards. Second, the clear, substantial deficiency shown must further be demonstrated to have so affected the fairness and reliability of the proceeding that confidence in the outcome is undermined. A court considering a claim of ineffectiveness of counsel need make а specific ruling on the performance not component of the test when it is clear that the prejudice component is not satisfied. Maxwell v. Wainwright, 490 So. 2d 927, 932 (Fla. 1986) (citations omitted). Because both prongs of the Strickland test present mixed questions of law and fact, this Court employs a mixed standard of review, deferring to the circuit court's factual findings that are supported by competent, substantial evidence but reviewing the circuit court's legal conclusions de novo. See Sochor v. State, 883 So. 2d 766, 771-72 (Fla. 2004).

Bates v. State, 3 So. 3d 1091, 1100 (Fla. 2009). A mental state evaluation is not constitutionally required in every case, and a defendant certainly has no constitutional right to a **favorable** mental state evaluation. Ake v. Oklahoma, 470 U.S. 68 (1985). This Court has said:

do not require a mental health While we evaluation for mitigation purposes in every capital case, Arbelaez v. State, 898 So. 2d 25, 34 (Fla. 2005), and "Strickland does not require counsel to investigate every conceivable line of mitigating evidence . . . [or] present mitigating evidence at sentencing in every case," Wiggins, 539 U.S. at 533, "an attorney has a strict duty to conduct a reasonable investigation of a defendant's background for possible mitigating evidence." Riechmann, 777 So. 2d at 350. available information Where indicates that the defendant could have mental health problems, "such an evaluation is 'fundamental in defending against the

death penalty."' Arbelaez, 898 So. 2d at 34 (quoting Bruno v. State, 807 So. 2d 55, 74 (Fla. 2001) (Anstead, J., concurring in part and dissenting in part)).

Jones v. State, 998 So. 2d 573, 583 (Fla. 2008).

THIS CASE

Hoskins was evaluated by several mental state professionals, and cannot complain that he did not receive far more process than he was due. In the final analysis, Hoskins' complaints about the mental state aspect of his penalty phase boil down to no more than a complaint about the result. Hoskins has presented nothing that was not before the jury at his resentencing proceeding.

Moreover, Hoskins' claims of prejudice are insufficiently pleaded, and relief should be denied on that basis, as well as because he has not shown that trial counsel's performance was in any way deficient. With regard to the sufficiency of pleading necessary to properly present an ineffectiveness of penalty phase counsel claim, this Court has held:

[Jones] offers nothing more than the blanket assertion that "[h]ad the evidence been presented, the result of the penalty proceedings would have been different." A mere conclusory allegation that the outcome would have been different is insufficient to state a claim of prejudice under *Strickland*; the defendant must demonstrate how, if counsel had acted otherwise, a reasonable probability exists that the outcome would have been different -- that is, a probability sufficient to undermine confidence in the outcome. *See Holland v. State*, 916 So. 2d 750, 758

(Fla. 2005) (defendant's claim that "he was prejudiced penalty phase counsel's deficiencies because substantially impair confidence in the outcome of the proceedings is merely conclusory and must be rejected"); Brown v. State, 894 So. 2d 137, 160 (Fla. 2004); Armstrong v. State, 862 So. 2d 705, 712 (Fla. 2003) (finding that a mere conclusory allegation of prejudice was legally insufficient).

Notwithstanding the insufficiency of the claim, we are confident that had the additional mitigation evidence been introduced, there is no reasonable probability that the outcome would have been different i.e., our confidence in the outcome remains. ___ "Prejudice, in the context of penalty phase errors, is shown where, absent the errors, there is a reasonable balance of aggravating probability that the and mitigating circumstances would have been different or the deficiencies substantially impair confidence in the outcome of the proceedings." Gaskin v. State, 737 So. 2d 509, 516 n.14 (Fla. 1999). Here, the mental mitigation evidence presents a "double-edged sword" and is not sufficient to overcome the substantial aggravation. See Reed v. State, 875 So. 2d 415, 437 (Fla. 2004) ("An ineffective assistance claim does not arise from the failure to present mitigation evidence where that evidence presents a double-edged sword.").

Jones v. State, 998 So. 2d at 585. (emphasis added). Hoskins has offered nothing more than the conclusory, ipse dixit arguments that were found insufficient in Jones as support for his ineffectiveness claims. His arguments are legally insufficient, and, because Hoskins has the burden of proof, his ineffectiveness claims fail.

Hoskins argued to the lower court (at pages 14-21 of the motion and pages 6-9 of the closing argument) that penalty phase

counsel were ineffective because they did not find a mental state expert who would testify more "favorably" than did Dr. Krop. This claim is no more than an attempt to replace a considered penalty phase strategy with a "new" strategy in the hope that the new version will be more successful. There is no claim that the original mental state expert performed an inadequate evaluation, nor is there any assertion that Dr. Krop's opinion has changed in any way.¹⁴ Dr. Krop did not testify at the evidentiary hearing, so the last word from him is his penalty phase testimony.

Hoskins has done nothing more than demonstrate that present counsel might try the case differently, and might, with the benefit of hindsight, time, and a made record, produce yet another "expert" willing to testify in a different fashion. *Clisby v. State of Ala.*, 26 F.3d 1054, 1057 (11th Cir. 1994); *Card v. State*, 992 So. 2d 810, 818 (Fla. 2008); *Peede v. State/McDonough*, 955 So. 2d 480, 494 (Fla. 2007) (*quoting Asay v. State*, 769 So. 2d 974, 986 (Fla. 2000)). That does not meet Hoskins' burden under the two parts of *Strickland*. And, Hoskins cannot demonstrate deficient performance or prejudice under *Strickland* in light of Dr. Krop's extensive penalty phase testimony. *See*, DAR, V12, R1100-1192.

¹⁴ Such a change would be suspect, anyway, given that his opinion in this case has **never changed.**

In any event, Hoskins' new mental state expert is not qualified to testify as to whether or not Hoskins meets the legal standard for finding the statutory mental state mitigating circumstances -- that is a legal determination that is the province of the Court, and is one which is not a proper subject of "expert" testimony. Wickham v. State, 593 So. 2d 191, 193 (Fla. 1991); accord, Palm Beach County v. Town of Palm Beach, 426 So. 2d 1063, 1070 (Fla. 4th DCA 1983). Moreover, Hoskins says that his expert would testify that his behavior is "akin" to Intermittent Explosive Disorder. Whatever that means, it Hoskins' makes no sense to arque that counsel was constitutionally ineffective because he did not present such vague and inconclusive testimony, especially when it was contradicted by the other experts involved in this case, and was not supported by Hoskins' history. (V3, R428, 434-35, 436-37, 438). Moreover, neither Strickland nor common sense require counsel to pursue possible mitigation when the client has indicated that certain avenues will not be productive. In this case, Hoskins had denied drug use to Krop and to his attorney -that denial obviated the need for investigation into an area that would not be favorably received by the jury, anyway. Clisby, supra. Because Hoskins denied any involvement in the offenses, no voluntary intoxication defense was possible at the guilt stage. Likewise, under these facts, it was reasonable for

penalty phase counsel not to present a "drug-abuse-mitigation" case, especially since that would be admitting that Hoskins sexually assaulted, kidnapped and murdered his 80-year-old neighbor because he was under the influence of drugs. Such a strategy would hardly help Hoskins' cause, especially in view of the conflict as to the precise diagnosis applicable to Hoskins. The State suggests that the testimony of Dr. McClaren is more credible than that of the defense expert because that testimony is consistent with Hoskins' known history and prior behavior.

In denying relief on this claim, the collateral proceeding trial court said:

Dr. Eisenstein testified at the the evidentiary hearing that Defendant has Intermittent Explosive Disorder which causes inability to control his behavior and to control impulses. Dr. Eisenstein gave some examples of conduct of the Defendant that occurred prior to the crime which supported the diagnosis. (See Exhibit "J", pgs. 158-159). He described the degree of the Defendant's brain damage as severely impaired. (See "J", pg. 154). However, Exhibit on crossexamination, Dr. Eisenstein testified that one of the criteria for Intermittent Explosive Disorder is that the aggressive episodes of the person are not better accounted for by another mental disorder including substance abuse. (See Exhibit "J"; pgs. 176-177 and 183). The State's expert, Dr. Harry McClaren, a Psychologist specializing in forensics, testified that he met with the Defendant in June, 2009. He testified that the Defendant reflected good control over himself and was not impulsive. He testified that he did not find the diagnosis of Intermittent Explosive Disorder to be compelling. (See Exhibit "J", pgs. 295 and 304).

The Court finds that the Defendant was not

prejudiced by his attorneys' failure to call an expert witness to testify that the Defendant had Intermittent Explosive Disorder. Had the defense presented such an expert, it is possible that this testimony would have been weakened by the testimony of a State witness such as Dr. McClaren or by crossexamination questioning regarding the Defendant's substance abuse. Even if the defense attorneys did successfully show that the Defendant had Intermittent Explosive Disorder, it is unlikely that the result of the penalty phase would have changed. The symptoms of Intermittent Explosive Disorder, as described by Dr. Eisenstein, are similar to the symptoms of a frontal lobe impairment. The jury heard. that the defendant was impulsive and that he had difficulty controlling his aggression. Yet the jury found that this was. not sufficient to overcome the aggravation in this case. It is unlikely that had the jury heard that the Defendant had Intermittent Explosive Disorder that they would have found such a diagnosis to overcome the aggravating circumstances. Evidence of Intermittent Explosive Disorder also would not have changed the Court's decision to impose the death penalty. In discussing the evidence of the Defendant's frontal lobe impairment in the sentencing order, the Court pointed out that Dr. Krop had testified that after the Defendant committed the sexual battery, the rest of the Defendant's actions are consistent with someone who knows that he did something wrong and is trying to avoid detection and to cover up his crime. The Court found that the remainder of the Defendant's actions, after he committed the sexual battery, were not affected by the Defendant's brain damage. (See Exhibit "I"). This same finding would be applicable to any evidence that may be presented that the Defendant had Explosive Intermittent Disorder.

(V7, R1205-06).

That result is correct, is in accord with settled law, and should not be disturbed.

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